Civil Case No. S214061

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF CALIFORNIA

SUPREME COURT
FILED

FRIENDS OF THE COLLEGE OF SAN MATEO GARDENS,
Plaintiff and Respondent,

FEB 18 2014

v.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

SAN MATEO COUNTY COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT; SAN
MATEO COUNTY COMMUNITY COLLEGE DISTRICT BOARD OF
TRUSTEES; and DOES 1 through 5,
Defendants and Appellants.

CRC
8.25(b)

After an Unpublished Decision by the Court of Appeal
First Appellate District, Division One, Case No.: A135892

Appeal from the Superior Court of the State of California
for the County of San Mateo, the Honorable Clifford Cretan
San Mateo County Superior Court Case No.: CIV 508656

OPENING BRIEF

REMY MOOSE MANLEY, LLP

QUESTION PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

When a lead agency performs a subsequent environmental review and prepares a subsequent environmental impact report, a subsequent negative declaration, or an addendum, is the agency's decision reviewed under a substantial evidence standard of review (*Mani Brothers Real Estate Group v. City of Los Angeles* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 1385), or is the agency's decision subject to a threshold determination whether the modification of the project constitutes a "new project altogether," as a matter of law (*Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1288)?

INTRODUCTION

The answer to the question presented is that the appropriate standard of review in any subsequent review situation is the substantial evidence standard of review. The application of this standard affords the appropriate amount of deference due to agencies in administrative matters, which principle has been long recognized by this Court (*Laurel Heights Improvement Association v. Regents of University of California* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 376, 393), most of the courts of appeal in subsequent review circumstances,¹ and the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and its implementing Guidelines pertaining to subsequent review (Pub. Resources Code, § 21166 [discouraging further review unless substantial

¹ See, e.g., *Bowman v. City of Petaluma* (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 1065, 1074; *Fund for Environmental Defense v. County of Orange* (1988) 204 Cal.App.3d 1538; *Benton v. Board of Supervisors* (1991) 226 Cal.App.3d 1467, 1473-1474, 1480-1481; *River Valley Preservation Project v. Metropolitan Transit Development Bd.* (1995) 37 Cal.App.4th 154, 166-168; *Santa Teresa Citizen Action Group v. Santa Clara Valley Water District* (2003) 114 Cal.App.4th 689, 703; *Mani Brothers Real Estate Group v. City of Los Angeles* (2007) 153 Cal.App.4th 1385; *Abatti v. Imperial Irrigation Dist.* (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 650, 651; *Latinos Unidos de Napa v. City of Napa* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 192 (decided just weeks after the case presented to this Court).

changes occur]; Cal. Code Regs., tit. 14, div. 6., ch. 3 [“CEQA Guidelines”], § 15064, subd. (f)(7) [“The fair argument standard does not apply to determinations of significance pursuant to sections 15162, 15163, and 15164”].)

The “new project” standard, as first articulated in *Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman*, is nowhere sanctioned or supported in the CEQA statute or CEQA Guidelines, nor does it respect the traditional discretion afforded to agencies to implement policy through their legislative and administrative decision-making functions. Therefore, the Court should address this “split” in authority by declining to adopt the novel “new project” standard.

The controversy in this case arises from the San Mateo County Community College District’s decision to demolish, rather than to renovate, an obsolete building, ancillary storage facilities, and part of the surrounding landscaped area during the course of a campus-wide renovation project. In January 2007, after completing project-level environmental review under CEQA (Pub. Resources Code, § 21000 et seq.), the District and its Board of Trustees approved a set of detailed facility improvements at the College of San Mateo (“the CSM project”). Friends of the College of San Mateo Gardens (“Friends”) did not participate in that public process. However, Friends sued the District over modest actions it took more than four years later in August 2011 to implement portions of the CSM Project.

The original CSM Project planned for the demolition of up to 16 buildings and renovation of numerous other buildings, parking lots, and pathways across the CSM campus. The District originally expected that Building 20, its associated structures and parking lots, and its surrounding landscaped area (the “Building 20 complex”) would be renovated. But the District did not acquire state funding for this specific portion of the CSM Project, so it reevaluated the need for the building and its usefulness to the

CSM campus. In light of its age, deteriorated state, and lack of use as a horticultural building due to drastically reduced enrollment in those programs, the District determined that the most efficient action would be to demolish the complex and expand the existing three small parking lots into a single, renovated parking lot.

The District carefully analyzed the potential environmental impacts associated with this change to the CSM Project. Since no new significant or substantially more severe significant impacts not previously studied in the IS/MND were identified, the District determined no supplemental or subsequent Environmental Impact Report (“EIR”) was required. Thus, as authorized by Public Resources Code section 21166 and section 15164, subdivision (b), of the CEQA Guidelines, the District relied on an addendum to the IS/MND to approve the changes to the CSM Project resulting in the demolition of the Building 20 complex and construction of a new parking lot. Friends filed a lawsuit, arguing the District was required to prepare a new EIR to analyze potential aesthetic, biological, and cultural impacts from demolishing the Building 20 complex. The trial court agreed with Friends, and granted the petition for writ of mandate.

Division One of the First Appellate District, in an unpublished opinion, also ordered the District’s actions be set aside. Surprisingly, the court treated the change to the previously approved CSM Project (to demolish rather than renovate Building 20) as constituting an entirely “new” project for the purposes of CEQA. The appellate court disagreed with the District’s characterization of the action as a modification to the previously approved CSM Project. The distinction is very important because changes to approved projects (as opposed to new projects) are subject to the policies embodied in Public Resources Code section 21166, the CEQA provision governing the preparation of subsequent Environmental Impact Reports (“SEIRs”) and supplements to EIRs, and the

corresponding CEQA Guidelines (sections 15162-15164). In contrast, new projects are subject to the low threshold “fair argument” standard for preparing EIRs as set forth in Public Resources Code section 21080, subdivision (d). (See CEQA Guidelines, § 15064, subd. (f)(1).)

The propriety of the District’s consideration under section 21166 is also supported by the language of section 21166 itself. Section 21166 establishes a presumption against requiring subsequent EIRs to protect the finality of agency decisions. The section states: “When an environmental impact report has been prepared for a project pursuant to [CEQA], *no* subsequent or supplemental environmental impact report shall be required...*unless*” certain specified events occur. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21166, italics added.) These events include circumstances where substantial changes are proposed to the project or where substantial changes occur with respect to the circumstances under which the project is being undertaken, or new information becomes available which was not or could not have been known at the time the EIR was certified. (Pub. Resources Code, § 21166, subs. (a)-(c).) When discussing the statute in dealing with analogous but distinct issues arising under section 21092.1, which governs the recirculation of EIRs, this Court had the following to say about section 21166:

In the case of a certified EIR, which is a prerequisite for application of section 21166, section 21167.2 mandates that the EIR be conclusively presumed valid unless a lawsuit has been timely brought to contest the validity of the EIR. *This presumption acts to preclude reopening of the CEQA process* even if the initial EIR is discovered to have been fundamentally inaccurate and misleading in the description of a significant effect or the severity of its consequences. After certification, the interests of finality are favored over the policy of encouraging public comment.

(Laurel Heights Improvement Assn. v. Regents of Univ. of Cal. (1993) 6 Cal.4th 1112, 1130, (“Laurel Heights II”) italics added.)

Instead of following this clear presumption against further environmental review, and without giving any deference to the District’s reasonable interpretation of its own actions as a change to a previously approved project, rather than a “new” project, the Court of Appeal relied on a heavily criticized 2006 decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, *Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1288 (*Save Our Neighborhood*). The “new project” test employed by the court in *Save Our Neighborhood* finds no support in the CEQA statute or Guidelines. The test conflicts with the substantial evidence standard of review the courts have applied in numerous prior published cases. Published court decisions after *Save Our Neighborhood* have also declined to apply the non-deferential new project test to agency decisions made pursuant to section 21166. In fact, the new project test subverts the very purpose of section 21166 which, Division Four of the First District emphasized, “is intended to provide a balance against the burdens created by the environmental review process and to accord a reasonable measure of finality and certainty to the results achieved. This purpose appears not only from its prohibitory language (‘no subsequent or supplemental environmental impact report . . . unless . . .’) but also from legislative context and history.” (*Bowman v. City of Petaluma* (1986) 185 Cal.App.3d 1065, 1074 (*Bowman*).) Both *Save Our Neighborhood* and the First District’s unpublished opinion in this case are judicial outliers that are squarely inconsistent with the notion, stated in *Bowman*, that the Legislature, in enacting section 21166, meant to set a high bar for the preparation of SEIRs.

The answer presented by Friends to the District’s petition for review is inconsistent with the language of section 21166, the Guidelines, and the legislative policy of raising the bar for subsequent rounds of environmental

review. Friends asserts the project is a “new idea,” “requires more than minor, technical changes to the negative declaration,” and that it “is not within the scope of the 2007 CSM Project.” This answer ignores and bears no relationship to the direct language of section 21166 and its implementing Guidelines. Even where a previously approved project undergoes changes, a subsequent EIR is only required where the changes are substantial and new or substantially more severe impacts than previously studied are implicated.

Substantial evidence supports both the District’s determination that its proposed actions were a change to a previously approved project and its decision to rely on an addendum to assess the potential effects of those changes. The substantial evidence supporting the District’s analysis demonstrates that the changes to the CSM Project will not result in any new or substantially more severe impacts than previously studied. Therefore, the Court of Appeal’s opinion should be reversed in light of its disregard for the substantial evidence in the record and its reliance on the unfounded and unworkable “new project” test concocted out of whole cloth in *Save Our Neighborhood*.

FACTUAL SUMMARY

The District owns and operates three community colleges in San Mateo County, including the College of San Mateo (“CSM”). (Administrative Record [“AR”] 1:235.) In August 2006, the District adopted the 2006 *Facilities Master Plan* to provide guidance for specific facility improvements at its three community colleges over the next five to seven years. (AR 1:235-236; 3:1672-1687 [Recommended 2006 Facilities Master Plan for CSM].) The Facilities Master Plan included recommendations to renovate or replace the oldest facilities on campus, improve accessibility to student support services, and improve campus access overall. (AR 3:1671.) The District published an Initial Study and

Mitigated Negative Declaration (“IS/MND”) (AR 1:214-392) analyzing the potential physical environmental effects of implementing these recommendations for the Facility Improvements at College of San Mateo Project (“CSM Project”) in December 2006. (AR 1:3.)

A. The Facility Improvements at College of San Mateo Project entailed extensive physical work across the entire campus.

The CSM Project consists of numerous facility improvements throughout the CSM campus. These various improvements include enhancement of the campus entrance, pedestrian corridors, and plazas; internal traffic circulation improvements; renovation of existing buildings; demolition of obsolete buildings; construction of new and/or replacement buildings; and renovation and construction of new parking lots. (AR 1:3, 245-247; 3:1679-1687.) In total, the CSM Project initially envisioned demolition of up to 16 buildings. (AR 1:245-246 [renovate or replace Building 1; demolish and replace Buildings 5, 6, 10, 11, 15 and 17; demolish Buildings 21-29].) In addition, it identified multiple buildings and parking lots for renovation. (*Ibid.* [renovate Buildings 2, 3, 4, 8, 12, 14, 16, 19, and 20; renovate Parking Lots 1 and 2; Renovate Plazas and Pedestrian Corridors].)

The IS/MND concluded that, with the implementation of mitigation measures, the CSM Project would not have a significant effect on the environment. (AR 1:341.) The District’s Board of Trustees adopted the IS/MND for the CSM Project on January 24, 2007, after it had been circulated for the required 20-day public comment period. (AR 1:64, 393-394.) The District received no comments from the public during the review period. (AR 1:394.)

///

///

///

B. The District adopted an addendum to the CSM Project IS/MND analyzing proposed changes to the disposition of the Building 20 complex.

After adoption of the IS/MND for the CSM Project, the District failed to acquire state funding for the Building 20 complex remodel, as originally proposed in the CSM Project. (AR 1:64.) Therefore, the District considered alternative plans for the Building 20 complex in light of changed funding status and District program needs.

The Building 20 complex consists of Building 20, a greenhouse, a lath house, gardens and landscaping, and three small parking lots. Building 20 itself is a small, cast-in-place concrete building containing a classroom and lab facilities. The garden areas consist of approximately 19,185 square feet of plants and grass on the north side of Building 20 (“North Garden”) and 32,020 square feet of planted area (mostly lawn) south of Building 20 (“South Garden”). The South Garden also includes some landscaped area and an educational demonstration garden. (AR 1:65, 80.) The area is framed by a landscaped slope leading up to the main part of the CSM Campus. (AR 1:93.)

Three parking lots are associated with the Building 20 complex. (See AR 1:76, 79.) These lots (Lots 20, 20A, and 20M) currently provide about 40 total parking spaces. (AR 1:79.)

Since state funding for remodeling the Building 20 complex was rejected, the Districted re-evaluated the structure’s usefulness to the San Mateo campus. (AR 1:64.) The District’s evaluation considered numerous factors.

First, when the Board adopted the 2006 master plan, the Building 20 complex housed the CSM floristry and horticulture programs and several student services offices. (AR 1:396; 2:658.) But due to budget cuts, the horticulture program had not been offered in the previous two years, and

the floristry program was serving only 4.3 full time equivalent students, mostly non-majors. (AR 1:65, 396.) Second, the single classroom located in Building 20 was no longer used, and the student services previously housed there had been relocated to a new building. (AR 1:64-65, 12.) Third, the building is not compliant with the access requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act, is in great disrepair due to its age, contains hazardous building materials such as asbestos (AR 1:65), and the landscaping surrounding the building is unkempt. (AR 2:625 [area not well maintained for several years despite arrangement that called for faculty and students to maintain area].) Fourth, the District's facilities condition database indicates that all of the structures in the complex are well beyond their service life. (See AR 4:2113-2115.)²

After considering these issues in light of the lack of state funding, the District changed its intentions for the Building 20 complex from those previously stated for the CSM Project. Instead of renovating the Complex, the District decided the most efficient course of action would be to demolish it and renovate the existing parking lots to create an expanded, single parking lot. The revised project would also include accessibility and landscaping improvements. (AR 1:9.) The District concluded that further environmental review of this change to the CSM Project was required.

///

///

///

² Building 20 itself received a score of 68.36% on the Facilities Condition Index (FCI), where a higher number indicates worse condition. Any score over 10% is considered "poor." (AR 1:71.) The FCI is an economic measurement: the score represents the ratio of the cost to correct a facility's deficiencies to the current replacement value of the facility. (*Ibid.*, fn. 2.) So, a score of 68.36% indicates that the current value of the Building 20 complex is very low, while its replacement cost will be very high.

(1) The District revised the Building 20 complex plans to incorporate public input while conducting additional environmental review and before adopting an addendum.

The District determined that an addendum to the IS/MND was the proper document to use for analyzing the proposed changes to the CSM Project. The District reached this conclusion pursuant to CEQA Guidelines section 15164 because the proposed changes “would not result in a new or more severe impact relative to the prior 2006 IS/MND.” (AR 1:9; *see also, generally*, AR 1:4-57 [addendum].) The District approved an addendum at a public hearing on May 16, 2011, and posted a notice of determination for this action in the County’s Clerk’s office on May 17, 2011. (AR 1:1.)

The proposed changes to the CSM Project and the Building 20 complex generated some public controversy, and the original addendum was discussed at several Board hearings prior to May 16, 2011. At the Board hearing on March 23, 2011, a critic of the addendum offered alternative proposals for the Building 20 complex and noted the current plan did not include a replacement garden or a place for the horticulture program. (AR 2:611.) Other individuals expressed similar concerns during the hearing, and at its close, Board President Holober thanked the presenters and indicated that “the Board listened attentively and [would] take the comments into consideration.” (AR 2:609-611.) At the April 13, 2011, hearing, the Board outlined an updated plan for the Building 20 complex in response to public comments. (AR 2:625.) The District indicated it would rehabilitate 16,000 square feet of a hillside/berm area and create a teaching garden within it because faculty had “made a good case” that this was an important teaching area. (*Ibid.*) In addition, 21,000 square feet of the garden space north of Building 20 would be rehabilitated, and \$75,000 would be assigned to transplant certain species of plants to these areas. (*Ibid.*)

Staff testimony at the May 16, 2011, hearing provided additional details regarding the Building 20 complex demolition plan and compromises made by the District, noting that, in addition to preserving the North Garden and enhancing and replanting the slope areas, a landscaped area of approximately 7,000 square feet adjacent to the Building 20 complex and Building 36 would be set aside for plantings. (AR 2:719.) While numerous individuals again expressed concern regarding the proposal (AR 2:719-721), vocal project critic Student Trustee Jointer admitted that Building 20 should be demolished. (AR 2:723.) Jointer stated that, when he first came to the CSM and walked around campus, “the first thing he noticed was that Building 20 was run-down and out of place...it would have to be flattened and rebuilt.” (*Ibid.*) Vice President Mendelkern responded that, by preserving and enhancing the North Garden area, the berm/slopes, and the south landscape slope/garden, the District had tried to accommodate the needs and perspectives that had been expressed through the planning process. (*Ibid.*) The revised proposal before the Board on May 16, 2011, reflected many of the students’ and project opponents’ recommendations, and the District no longer proposed to eliminate the entire garden area. (AR 2:724.) President Holober noted that the revised proposal would result in only a minor net loss of open green or garden space on campus. In total, less than one-third of one acre of the 86 available acres of landscaped and open space would be lost. (*Ibid.*; see also AR 1:80 [comparing total landscaping under existing and proposed conditions].)

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