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

A year passed. On March 9, 2011, College of San Mateo
student Tricia Gardner spoke at the District Board of Trustees’
meeting regarding still-ripening plans to expand parking lots for
staff and Building 10 events. On behalf of other concerned students,
Gardner objected to the proposed demolition of “the garden,
Building 20, and the greenhouses” to expand parking. (AR1:459.)

The demolition/parking lot project was next publicly
discussed at a Board meeting on March 23. (AR2:609-611.) Student
Richard Gardner supported retention of “one of the most beautiful
gardens he has ever seen.” (AR2:609.) Student Shawn Kann made a
lengthy presentation in support of retaining the horticulture complex
and the “spectacular specimens” in the garden, pointing out that

“biology and paleontology courses and the students who utilize the

12



garden’s diverse living botanical specimens, native plants, and living
fossils would be adversely affected” by demolition. (AR2:610.)

Tricia Gardner presented a compromise plan developed by the
new campus Save the Garden Club, proposing up to 70 new parking
spaces and retention of much of the complex. (AR2:611.) She asked
the Board to “respect biological resources that enrich studies in ways
that are difficult to measure.” (Ibid.)

The Board promised to consider students’ concerns. (AR:611.)

Then, at a public ‘study session’ two weeks later, the Trustees
announced that they had made a decision: to demolish the Building
20 complex to expand the asphalt Edison parking lot adjacent to the
south garden and provide additional parking for Building 10.

(AR1: 9-10.) College President Michael Claire explained that
“... [w]ith Building 10 at only 50% of capacity, there are already
complaints about a lack of parking.” (AR2:626.)

In announcing the decision, the Trustees strongly criticized
student and faculty objectors. While acknowledging that the College
faculty strongly preferred to retain Building 20 and the gardens, the
Trustees made clear that they planned to demolish the Building 20
complex and objectors were wasting their time in suggesting parking

alternatives. (AR2:624-627.)

13



(AR2: 1284, [“Existing Campus”].)

Trustee Dave Mandelkern stated that “the discussion on this
issue is done and he will not continue to engage in debate ...”
(AR2:627.) Board President Richard Holober referenced the
involvement of students and community members with the local City
Council and “other official representatives”s regarding the
demolition project and pronounced that “the discussion is over and
the answer is no.” (AR2:627, italics added.)

At the next meeting of the Board of Trustees in late April 2011,

student Shawn Kann pointed out that the Trustees had not formally

5The reference was apparently directed at correspondence
between concerned College faculty and Congresswoman Jackie
Speier. (AR4:1844-1848, 1947; 5:2293-2298.)

14



approved the Building 20 demolition project and that a CEQA
environmental document should be prepared and considered in
making the decision. (AR2:633.)

The Sierra Club Loma Prieta Chapter criticized the Trustees’
handling of student concerns at its prior meeting: “We were
impressed with the fervor — yet polite demeanor — of these young
people for preserving something they felt to be of ... value not only
for themselves but for successor students.” (AR3:1880.)

Student Brandon Snyder told the Board of Trustees that “if
students do not feel welcome to express their concerns within the
system that was set up for them, then what do they do?” (AR2:633.)
Snyder said that the promised opportunities for students to voice
concerns about the project had not materialized “and because of
that, you have groups of students coming to Board meetings trying to
find answers. I can assure you that we will continue to attend public

meetings and respectfully speak our minds ...” (Ibid.)

CEQA Addendum and Formal Project Approval.

The District then prepared an addendum to the negative declaration

that had been prepared for the CSM project in 2006. (AR1:4-31.)

15
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(AR1:16 [drawing of the proposezlﬁz()—mo space Edison lot].)®

The addendum for the demolition/parking lot project
summarily recited that due to new construction at the College, the
classroom and laboratory spaces in Building 20 were no longer
needed and “there is a need for additional parking on the east side of
campus where Building 20 is located.” (AR1:1, 10-12, 4-57.)
Unspecified portions of the north and south gardens were to be
destroyed and some plants were to be relocated and replanted.
(AR1:24-25; 2021-2030.)

The addendum did not analyze the potentially significant

aesthetic impacts of demolishing the mature gardens, considering in

6 The fonts on this District document are altered for clarity.
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a cursory way only the visual impacts of new lighting needed for the
expanded Edison parking lot. (AR1:21.) It did not study the extent of
campus parking needs (including those related to the Building 10
College Center and its corporate rentals), nor consider alternatives
that might provide additional parking. (AR1:21-30.) There was no
analysis of the environmental setting or of the gardens’ contribution
or status as an historic vernacular landscape. (Ibid.)

The College was presented with additional anti-demolition
petitions signed by hundreds of students, including seventy “Save

the Gardens” petitions stating that

The garden at the College of San Mateo is in jeopardy of being
permanently eliminated and replaced with a parking lot. We
object to the paving of green space with rare and legacy
landscape plants. We value the educational opportunities
provided by this space and recognize this would be a
tremendous loss for the students. We ... urge our leaders to

Save the Garden at the College of San Mateo.

(AR5:2459-2530.)

On May 11, the week before the Trustees held a public meeting
to consider approval of the demolition/parking lot project, the
College construction manager prematurely emailed subcontractors

that “the district has elected to proceed” and described specific

17



imminent project implementation duties. (AR3:1955-1956.)

On May 15, the [undersigned] attorney for the Save the
Garden Club, whose members later formed the Friends of the San
Mateo College Gardens, sent a 7-page letter to the Trustees,
explaining the legal inadequacy of the addendum and requesting an

EIR “before any further consideration of this project.” (AR:1991.)

There are likely alternative ways to meet the College’s program
and facility needs with fewer environmental impacts. As
pointed out by the Academic Senate, demolition of Building
20, the gardens, and the Dawn Redwood has not been
justified, and should be halted.

(Ibid.)

Rl S —

(AR5:2604 [student notes/no-parking sign, south grden].)
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Protested by students and faculty, the demolition/parking lot
project was formally considered by the Board on May 16t. (AR2:726-
788 [transcript].) Architect Gita Dev pointed out that “every other
campus I know is trying to reduce their parking, move their parking
farther away so people will walk. Stanford now has 50 percent people

who use transit ... who do not use their car.” (AR1:151.)

We have a beautiful new quad [at the College]. It’s gorgeous, ...
it’s magnificent, but it’s not a garden. What the students have
[are] these two gardens with butterflies and little animals, and
it’s a place you can sit, it’s a place you can meet ... with your
friends, you can study there. It’s quiet. It has that quality
which the quad will have in 25 years when those trees are

magnificent, but won’t have it until then.

(AR1:749-750.) CSM horticulture instructor Linton Bowie urged that
environmental review was needed to analyze aesthetic values and

quality for “people and programs and education” —

I see people there all the time using that garden. It’s a garden
that is about 50 years old and there’s a lot of mature

specimens that provide a very unique kind of space that is not
on this campus any longer and I don’t think can be created by

the landscape plan.

(AR1:743.) Student Bonnie Britton told the Trustees that on her

19



recent drive to the campus to attend class, she observed signs
directing a community club to Building 10. “[Y]ou’re giving up a
resource that people treasure in order to provide parking for staff
and for visitors who aren’t even students, who aren’t even connected
with the college ... that’s a questionable decision.” (AR2:774; see
additional student and faculty comments post, pp. 59-69.)

Over the significant expressed opposition, the Board approved

the project and the addendum. (AR1:1, 64.)

The Revised Demolition/Parking Project. In June 2011,
the newly-formed Friends of the College of San Mateo Gardens filed
a CEQA mandamus action in San Mateo County Superior Court
[Case CIV 506455]. (Appellants’ Appendix (AA):6.) The action
became a matter of broad public and media interest, primarily due to
the threat to the future of the beloved College gardens. (AR1:459;
2:609-611, 633, 719-721, 738-755, 774-776; 4:1839-1841, 1949, 1957-
1963, 1971-2010, 2012-2020; 5:2610-2615.)

While the action was pending, it became apparent that a
secondary reason for the project was the imminent expansion of the
large Galileo parking lot for the “North Gateway project” near the

Building 20 north garden. During construction of that lot, the Edison

20



lot’s expansion would provide temporary parking. (AR3:1136.)

'

oky YA _
dens, May 2011}.)

(AR5:2615 [students prtesting in the ar

The District and Friends engaged in substantive settlement
negotiations to save a viable portion of the complex and gardens.
(AR3:1399; 4:2241; AA:6.) Friends presented its latest counter-
counter offer to the District Board on July 29, 2011. (Ibid.) While
Friends’ members and counsel awaited a response, the District
proceeded behind the scenes to complete a revised addendum.
(AR1:58-213.) Friends were not told that a new addendum was in
process until August 17, and a copy was not provided to them or to
the concerned public and students until its completion at 5 p.m. on

Friday, August 19. (AR1:58-213; 4:2208, 2241.)

21



The initial addendum for the demolition/parking lot project
approved in May 2011 made no pretense that the demolition was
encompassed within the described impacts of the 2006 Facilities
Master Plan or its implementing 2007 CSM project. (AR1:4-56.)
However, after Friends’ initial lawsuit was filed in June 2011, the
revised addendum newly contended that the demolition of the
Building 20 complex could be considered as substitute for the no-
longer-contemplated demolitions of campus Buildings 15 and 17 and
would have similar insignificant impacts. (AR1:65, 67-68, 96.)

The attempt to characterize the new project as encompassed
within the old was unsupported. The demolitions of Buildings 15 and
17 that were proposed by the 2007 CSM project were to make way
for a new building, not a parking lot. (AR1:67.) Buildings 15 and 17
are unrelated to Building 20 and their demolitions have no
overlapping environmental impacts except for the amount of debris
that would result from demolition. (AR1:81.) The revised addendum
similarly contrived to describe various proposed changes to the
gardens as “part of the CSM Project,” even though the CSM project
never proposed any garden alterations. (AR1:65-66, 71-72, 92-94

[Revised Addendum, Project Changes].)

22



The revised addendum explained that the District considered
the demolition/parking lot project to be part of the pending “North
Gateway Part II” project’s Galileo parking lot construction north of
the Building 20 complex and gardens. (AR1:92;3:1859, 1862-1867.)
The addendum disclosed that “the College needs additional parking
spaces in the near term to offset the loss of 600-800 spaces‘ during
the 18-24 month construction period for the North Gateway Project
... (AR1:106-107.)

The Board of Trustees held a hearing on August 24, a few days
after release of the revised addendum. (AR1:413-416; 3:1569-1625
[transcript].) The District staff report explained the chronology of
events and that the revised addendum contained more detail about
plans for the gardens. (AR3:1398-1400.)

A student pointed out, with supporting photographs, that
while the current week [in late August] was one of the busiest of the
school year, most student lots were relatively full in the mornings
but only half full in the afternoons. Staff and faculty parking was
never a problem. (AR3:1586-1588.) She requested an EIR to explore
alternate parking sites for Building 10 events. (Id., p. 1587.)

After public comment, the Board rescinded its May project

approvals, approved the revised addendum, and reapproved the
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demolition/parking lot project as described in the revised
addendum. (AR1:79-80; 3:1566, 1585-1597; 1569-1625.) Student
Trustee Barry Jointer and others requested a continuance of the
hearing to allow adequate time for the widely-concerned public and
student body to review and respond to the revised addendum.

(AR3:1562-1566, 1593-1594.) The Board declined. (AR3:1566.)

Statement of the Case

“The Gardens are ‘50 years old, filled with mature
and interesting specimens, a valued habitat area ... and a
spot of refuge treasured by studénts. The mature plants
cannot successfully be moved and replanted elsewhere.
The new landscaped areas of the campus (water
demanding) grass, concrete and standardized plantings
do not in any way compare aesthetically or in usefulness

to this garden.”

(AR4:2196-2197 [horticulture alumnus Anne Westerfield].)
Following the filing of the revised addendum and rescission of
the initial demolition/parking project in August 2011, the Friends
group dismissed its initial mandamus action. It filed a new action in
the public interest in the San Mateo County Superior Court in
September 2011, challenging the revised addendum and reapproved

project. The Friends group filed the action as a private attorney
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general and was (and is) represented by the undersigned pro bono
counsel pursuant to Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5. (AA:10.)
Following briefing and a hearing on the merits, the Honorable
Clifford Cretan ruled in favor of Friends and granted the mandamus
petition. (AA:175-176.) The form of judgment submitted by Friends
included findings both that the proposed demolition was a ‘new’
project and that even if treated as a ‘revised’ project the approval
based on the addendum was unlawful. (AA:193-194.) District counsel
successfully sought revision of the judgment to delete the findings.
(AA:189-191, 195-198.) The judgment therefore states only that the
District violated CEQA in basing project approval on an addendum.
(AA:196; see Slip Opinion, p. 6., fn. 4.) A peremptory writ issued
requiring the District’s compliance with CEQA. (AA:252-253, 254.)
The District appealed. In an unpublished opinion, as noted
above the First District Court of Appeal, Division One, cogently
summarized the material facts of the case. (Id., pp. 2-6.) Following
the approach of Save Our Neighborhood v. Lishman, supra, 140
Cal.App.4™ 1288, the Court then held that under the straightforward
facts presented in the certified administrative record, the proposed

demolition of the Building 20 horticulture complex and gardens was

a new project as a matter of law. (Slip Opinion, p. 9.)
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The Court rejected the College District’s characterization of the
demolition/parking lot project and addendum as if reflecting “minor
technical changes or additions” to the negative declaration. (Slip
Opinion, p. 8.) To the contrary, “[t]he addendum changes
‘renovation’ of the Building 20 complex to ‘demolition’ of the
complex’s buildings and a substantial portion of the gardens ... We
conclude the demolition project is a ‘new project” that has not been
subjected to adequate environmental review.” (Ibid.)

The Court distinguished cases that “indeed involve relatively
minor changes ... and not an entirely new project substituted for the
initial project which had been environmentally reviewed.” (Id, p. 9.)
Ruling that “under the straightforward facts of the present case” the
demolition/parking project “is a ‘new’ project,” the Court affirmed
the trial court’s judgment, remanding the case for environmental
review utilizing the “fair argument’ standard of review to determine
whether an EIR should be prepared or whether a new negative
declaration would suffice. (Id., pp. 9-11.)

The District sought review, and this Court granted the petition
in January 2014. Friends’ filing fees were waived since it is a “group
composed of college students, has no assets or income, and has

pursued this public interest case as a private attorney general” with
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counsel advancing all legal services since the underlying mandamus
action was filed in September 2011. (Request to Waive Court Fees.)
The physical status quo remains intact at the Building 20

complex, including the ongoing maintenance of the historic gardens.

Standard of Review

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